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VIRGINIA VAN DUSEN, JOHN DOE 1 and JOSEPH
SHEER, individually and behalf of all other similarly
sitaated persons,

Plaintiffs, 1:09-cv-10376
(RMBYJCF)

SWIFT TRANSPORTATION COQ., INC.,
INTERSTATE EQUIPMENT LEASING, INC., CHAD
KILLIBREW and JERRY MOYES,
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SECOND AMENDED COLLECTIVE & CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

1. Defendant SWIFT TRANSPORTATION CO., INC. (“SWIFT”) and
INTERSTATE EQUIPMENT LEASING, INC. (“IEL”) are privately owned
companies, owned and operated by related individuals for a common business
purpose, 1.e. moving freight interstate for castomers of SWIFT. SWIFT is the
largest truckload carrier in the United States, with approximate revenues of 3.4
billion dollars in 2008. Defendants jointly operate a scheme to treat SWIFT’s
employee WOI'kft-OI'CC as independent contractors and to shift SWIFT’s business
expenses to its drivers.

2. SWIFT and IEL offers the Plaintiff truckers an integrated series of forms to
lease Plaintiffs trucks owned by Defendants, and purporting to make Plaintiffs
independent “owner-operator” “business partners” of SWIFT. SWIFT and IEL
lead Plaintiffs to believe that these form contracts are provided on a “take it or
leave it” basis that must be signed at the time they are provided to the

Plaintiffs, so that Plaintiffs are prevented from seeking legal advice before



signing.

Defendants jointly control Plaintiffs’ work and, by law, employ the Plaintiffs to
transport goods by truck for SWIFT’s customers. Defendants control when,
where, and how Plaintiffs deliver freight. They also control the equipment that
Plaintiffs use, including, its operation, maintenance, and condition. Defendants
control virtually every aspect of Plaintiffs’ performance of SWIFT’s Wérk and
the equipment that Plaintiffs use for that work. |

Even though Defendants act as Plaintiffs’ employers, Defendants benefit
greatly by misclassifying Plaintiffs as independent contractors. Defendants
charge Plaintiffs tens of thousands of dolars per year for the lease of
Defendants’ trucks, and they also require Plaintiffs to pay for other equipment,
gas, tolls, insurance, bonding, repairs and maintenance, among other items.
Defendants even exact a financial profit for accounting transactions by
charging Plaintiffs an accounting fee to issue Plaintiffs” paychecks.

SWIKT also resewés the right to terminate its contracts with Plajntiffs at any
time it chooses, in which case Plaintiffs must return the trucks while remaining
liable for all lease payments to the end of the confract. The contracts with the
Plaintiffs, IEL and SWIFT define SWIFT’s unilateral right to terminate the
contract without cause as a “default” by the Plaintiffs of the lease agreement,
which by contract then enables Defendants to treat all remaining lease
payments and lost profits as immediately due and owing. Plaintiffs cannot
terminate the contracts without suffering the same crushing financial
consequences.

In addition to this acceleration of all remaining lease payments, the “default”
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provision enables Defendants to seize and repossess the truck and other
equipment at any time and for any reason or no reason at all.

Thus, Defendants may reap windfall profits, further penalize Plaintiffs, and
even prevent Plaintiffs from earning a living using the leased truck — the most
essential tool of Plaintiffs’ trade -- while concurrently demanding excessive
and unreasonable liquidated damages upon “default.”

Defendants’ ability to put Plaintiffs in defanlt on the lease at any time provides
Defendants with the means to maintain exclusive control over their work,
forces Plaintiffs to accept any terms Defendants wish to impose, and permits
Défendants to make unilateral changes to the contract or lease.

Defendaﬁts tie plaintiffs to the defendants’ trucks and requjre plaintiffs to
continue performing labor for Swift for years at sub-minimum wages by
threatening them Wﬁh the debt that regularly amounts to many tens of
thousands of dollars due on the truck lease.

For the samé reason, even though the contract provides that either party may
terminate, Plaintiffs cannot terminate their contracts, because to do so also
would trigger a “defauit” of the equipment lease with its severe financial
penalties. Thus, Plaintiffs are forced to endure working under Defendants’
exclusive control for leases lasting as long as four years, even when they are
being paid sub-minimum wages.

The independent contractor agreement is an illegal contract by which
Defendants together force Plaintiffs to work only for SWIFT, without the
ability to leave, although Defendants may fire them at any time.

The Defendants’ form confracts shift the business risks of the economic
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downturn to Plaintiff employees, forces them to cover SWIF1’s costs for fleet
inventory, insurance, tolls, taxes, and equipment, and forces them to pay
various fees to SWIFT that enabie SWIFT to exact further profit from Plaintiffs
who cannot leave their contracts without crushing financial consequences.
Although some of the contract language Defendants use appears to permit
Plaintiffs to work for other trucking companies, in fact, Plaintiffs are told that
they may not drive for other trucking companies or they will be put in default.
D¢fendants do not warranty the truck and do not guarantee Plaintiffs any
amount of work. Since Defendants may seize the truck at any time, while
simultaneously requiring Plaintiffs to pay their full lease obligation, Plaintiffs
are forced to endure nearly feudal conditions of servitude, tied to SWIFT for as
long as the lease period lasts, or until Swift does in fact terminate the contract
and seize the truck

By treating its truck drivers as independent confractors instead of employees,
Defendants are also able to avoid worker’s compensation and unemployment
payments, social security, and other benefits otherwise owed to employeeé.
Defendants are also able to avoid liability under wage protection statutes, avoid
unions, evade liability under Title VII and other statutes, and shift the cost of
their fleet inventory and other business expenses to their employees.
Defendants obtain a vast competitive advantage over competitor trucking
companies that treat employees as employees in compliance with the law. As
the largest truckload carrier in the United States, Defendants’ pay practices
drive down trucker wages and undercut fair labor practices across the country.

Plaintiffs seek unpaid wages, liquidated damages, interest, costs and attorneys'



fees, as well as declaratory relief under the FLSA and state minimum wage and
wage payment laws. Plaintiffs bring this claim individually and on behaif of
other similarly situated employees under the collective action provisions of the
FLSA. 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). Plaintiffs bring their state claims under the class

action rules of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
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Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by 29 U.S.C. §216(b) of the Fair
Labor Standards Act, by 28 U.S.C. §1331, this action arising under laws of the
United States, and by 28 U.S.C. §1337, this action arising under Acts of

Congress regulating commerce. Jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' claims for

declaratory reliefis conferred by 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202.

This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state claim raised by virtue of
28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). This Court also has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law
claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332 and 1367.

The amount in controversy in this matter exceeds the sum or value of
$5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

At least one member of the proposed class is a citizen of a state different from
that of at least one Defendant.

Plaintiffs> claims involve matters of national or interstate interest.

Citizenship of the members of the proposed class is dispersed among at least
two states: New York and California.

Greater than two-thirds of the members of all proposed Plaintiff classes in the
aggregate are not citizens of Arizona. -

Defendants reside in New Yorl.
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Venue is proper in the Southern District of New York, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1391, because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the
claim occurred in this District and at least one Defendant resides in this

District.

PARTIES

A.
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Plaintiffs
Plaintiff VIRGINIA VAN DUSEN is a natural person residing in New York.

VAN DUSEN leases a truck from Defendants and signed Defendants’
Independent Contractor Operating Agreement (“ICOA”) form contract. Asa
matter of law, Plaintiff VAN DUSEN is an employee of Defendants as
described herein. Plaintiff VAN DUSEN works for Defendants in New York.
Plaintiff VAN DUSEN brings claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act,
individually and on behalf of a collective action class as further described
herein.

Plaintiff VAN DUSEN brings claims under New York Labor Law Articles 6
and 19 and their implementing regulations, individually and on behalf of a
class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 as further described herein.

Plaintiff VAN DUSEN brings claims regarding the unconscionablility of the
lease portion of the confract and the contract as a whole under N.Y UCC 2A-
108, N.Y UCC 2-302, and New York common law, individually and on behalf
of a class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 as further described herein.

Plaintiff JOHN DOE 1 is the anonymous designation of a natural person
residing in New York. JOHN DOE 1 leased a truck from Defendants and

signed Defendants’ ICOA form contract. As a matter of law, Plaintiff JOHN
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DOE 1 was an employee of Defendants as described herein. Plamtiff JOHN
DOE 1 worked for Defendants in New York.

Plaintiff JOHN DOE 1 brings claims under the Fair Labor Standaras Act,
individually and on behalf of a collective aéﬁon class as further described
herein.

Plaintiff JOHN DOE 1 brings claims under New York Labor Law Articles 6
and 19 and their implementing regulations, 12 NYCRR §138-2.1, individually

and on behalf of a class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 as further described

- herein.

Plaintiff JOHN DOE 1 bﬁngs claims regarding the unconscionablility of the
lease portion of the contract and the contract as a whole under N.Y UCC 2A-
108, N.Y UCC 2-302, and Ne\)?v York common law, individually and on behalf
of a class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 as further described herein.

Plaintiff SHEER leased a truck from Defendants and signed Defendants’

ICOA. As amatter of law, Plaintiff SHEER was an employee of Defendants as

described herein. Plaintift SHEER worked for Defendants in California.
Plaintiff SHEER brings claims under Cal. Labor Code §§221, 450 ef seq.,
1182.12, 1194, 2802 & TWC Wage Order 9-2001, Business and Corporations
Code §§16600, 17203 & 17208, and implementing regulations, individually
and as a class action as further described herein.

Plaintiffs bring claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act, individually and on
behalf of a collective action class as further described herein.

Plaintiffs were engaged in commerce in their work for Defendants.

Represented Parties under FLSA
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The term "Plaintiff” or "Plaintiffs" as used in this Complaint refers to the
named Plaintiffs and any additional represented Class Members pursuant to the
collective action provision of 29U.8.C. §216(b) and any additional Class
Members pursuant to Rule 23.

The named Plaintiffs bring this case under the collective action provision of the
FLSA. as set forth in 29 U.S.C. §216(b) on behalf of themselves and a class of
persons throughout the U.S. consisting of “all truckers who lease a truck from
IEL to drive for SWIFT during the three years preceding the filing of the initial
complaint and up through the date of final judgment herein and subject to any
equitable tolling for any applicable portion of the limitation period.” .

Class Action Allegations

The named Plaintiffs bring the Second and Third Causes of Action under Rule
23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of themselves and a
nationwide class of similarly situated persons consisting of “all fruckers who
lease a truck from IEL to drive for SWIFT during the limitation period
preceding the filing of the initial complaint and up through the date of final
judgment herein and subject to any equitable tolling for any applicable portion
of the limitation period.”

Plaintiffs VAN DUSEN and JOHN DOE 1 bring the Fourth and Fifth Causes
of Action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of
himself and a class of persons consisting of “all truckers who lease a truck
from IEL to drive for SWIFT in New York during the six years preceding the
filing of the initial complaint and up through the date of final judgment herein

and subject to any equitable tolling for any applicable portion of the limitation
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period.”

Plaintiff SHEER brings the Sixth and Seventh Causes of Action under Rule 23
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of himself and a class of
persons consisting of “all truckers who lease a truck from IEL to drive for
SWIFT in California during the four years preceding the filing of the initial
complaint and up through the date of final judgrnent herein and subject to any
equitable tolling for any applicable portion of the limitation period.”
Excluded from any Rule 23 or Collective Action Class are Defendants' legal
representatives, officers, directors, ‘a,ssigns, and successors, or any individual

who has, or who at any time durmg the class period has -had, a controlling

-interest in any Defendants; the Judge(s) to whom this case is assigned and any

member of the Judges' immediate family; and all persons who will submit
timely and otherwise proper requests for exchusion from any Rule 23 Class.
The persons in the Rule 23 Classes identified above are so numerous that
joinder of all members is impracticable. Although the precise number of such
persons is not known to Plaintiffs, the facts on which the calculation of that
number can be based are presently within the sole control of Defendants.
Upon information and belief, the size of each Rule 23 Class numbers in the
hundreds.

Defendants acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Rule
23 Classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding
declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole.

The Second through Seventh Causes of Action are properly maintainable as a

class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3). There are



questions of law and fact common to the Class that predominate over any

questions solely affecting individual members of the Class, including but not

Hmited to:

a.

whether Defendants are or were Plaintiffs” employers;

whether Defendants imposed unconscionable contracts upon Plaintiffs;
whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by imposition of
unconscionable contracts upon Plaintiffs;

whether Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory judgment that Defendants’
contracts with Plaintiffs are unconscionable,

if Plaintiffs are found to be employees or the contracts are found to be
unconscionable, whether the contracts are void and/or Voidable;
whether Defendants made unlawful deductions from Plaintiffs’ wages
or required that Plaintiffs bear Defendants’ business expenses for
trucks, other equipment, gas, maintenance, bonds, insurance, tolls, and
other costs and expenses of the employer’s business;

whether Defendants failed to pay New York and California Class
Plaintiffs state statutory minimum wages in each week of work;
whether the equipment lease and independent contractor agreement
were unconscionable under Sections 2A-108 and 2-302 of the New
York Uniform Commercial Code and California Civil Code Division 3
Part 2, Title 4, §1670.5;

the nature and extent of Class-wide injury and the appropriate
measure of damages for the Classes;

whether Defendants wrongfully deducted money from the Class’

10
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paychecks for impermissible purposes;

whether Defendants wrongfully required Plaintiffs to expend money on
Defendants’ behalf;

whether Defendants’ failure to pay wages violates common law;
whether Defendants’ wrongful deductions of money from the Class’
paychecks violated New York and California statutes; and

whether Defendants violated wage deduction statutes by continuing to
demand lease and other payments after they terminated Plaintiffs®

employment.

The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Class they seek to

represent. Plaintiffs and the Class members work or have worked for

Defendants and have been subjected to common contract terms and a policy

and pattern or practice of failing to pay wages, a pattern or practice of making

unlawful and excessive deductions from their wages, and a pattern or practice

of not paying the minimwm wage for all hours worked. Defendants acted and

refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class, tﬁereby making

cieclaratory relief with respect to the Class appropriate.

Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the

Class.

Plaintiffs understand that, as class representatives, they assume a

~ fiduciary responsibility to the Class to represent its interests fairly and

adequately.
Plaintiffs recognize that as class representatives, they must represent

and consider the interests of the Class just as they would represent and

11
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counsider their own interests.

c. Plaintiffs understand that in decisions regarding the conduct of the
litigation and its possible settlement, they must not favor their own
interests over those of the Class.

d. Plaintiffs recognize that any resolution of a class action lawsuit,
including anvy settlement or dismissal thereof, must be in the best
interests of the Class.

€. Plaintiffs understand that to provide adequate representation, they must
remain informed of developments in the litigation, cooperate with class
counsel by providing them with information and any relevant
documentary material in their possession, and testify, if required, in a
deposition and in trial.

Plaintiffs have retained counsel cofnpetent and experienced in complex class

action employment litigation.

A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this litigation - particularly in the context of wage litigation like

the present action, where individual Plaintiffs may lack the financial resources
to vigorously prosecute a lawsuit in federal court against the largest truckload
carrier in the United States. The members of the Class have been damaged and
are entitled to recovery as a result of Defendants' common and uniform
policies, practices, and procedures. In addifion, class treatment is superior
because it will obviate the need for unduly duplicative litigation that might

result in inconsistent judgments about Defendants' practices.

12
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Defendants

Upon information and belief, Defendants are related business corporations
having an office and place of business in New York.

Defendant SWIFT is an Arizona business corporation having an office and
place of business in Phoenix. Defendant SWIFT lists its headquarters and
principal office address as 2200 S. 75th Ave., Phoenix, AZ 85043-7410.
Defendant IEL is related to SWIFT. It leases trucks to SWIFT employees only.
It leases trucks only to truckers who will drive for SWIFT. It requires truckers
who sign leases to sign “Independent Contractor Operating Agreements”
(ICOAs) with SWIFT.

Defendant IEL leases trucks to SWIET employees for the sole use in helping '
SWIFT further its shipping business. |

Upon information and belief, IEL is owned and operated by principal
shareholders of SWIFT or their relatives.

Upon information and belief, IEL and SWIFT h?we interlocking and
overlapping officers and directors.

JERRY MOYES is the Chief Executive Officer of both SWIFT and IEL and,
upon information and belief, has an ownership interest in both companies.
CHAD KILLEBREW is the President of TEL and Executive Vice President of
Business Transformation for SWIFT. He also recently served as Vice
President of Swift's Owner Operator Division.

IEL leases trucks to citizens of New York and California.

IEL Ieases trucks to truckers who by law must be deemed employees of

Defendants in New York and California.

13



61.  Trucks leased to Plaintiffs through IEL are registered with the department of
motor vehicles to SWIFT.

62.  Defendant IEL is an Arizona business corporation having an office and place
of business at the very same location as SWIFT. Defendant IEL lists its
principal office address as 2200 S 75th Ave., Phoenix, AZ 85043 and is
registered with the state of Arizona at P.O. Box 29243, Phoenix, AZ 85038.

63.  Upon information and belief, Defendants MOYES and KILLEBREW maintain
offices for their work with both SWIFT and IEL at the headquarters address for
both companieé-

64.  Defendant SWIFT is a motor carrier, engaged in interstate shipment of freight.

65.  Defendants conduct business throughout the country.

60. Upon information and belief, Defendants each grossed more than $500,000 in
each of the last six calendar years, individually and collectively.

67.  Defendants are ent.erprises engaged in interstate commerce for purposes of the

- Fair Labor Standards Act.

68.  Defendants have common control and a common business purpose and are
operated as a single enterprise; within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 203(rX1).

69.  All actions and omissions described in this complaint were made by
Defendants directly or through their supervisory employees and agents.

FACTS

70. SWIFT and IEL offered Plaintiffs an integrated series of forms to lease them

trucks including a lease and “Independent Contractor Operating Agreement”
(ICOA) which purported to make Plaintiffs independent contractor “owner-

operator” “business partners” of SWIFT.

14
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79.

SWIFT and IEL do not permit Plainfiffs to take a copy of the proposed lease
and ICOA with them to review prior to signing. Plaintiffs are made to sign the
contract and ICOA “then and there” on SWIFT’s premises.

In many cases, Plaintiffs are made to review the contracts at locations far from
their home, with no practical way home, other than by signing such forms to
lease the truck.

Plaintiffs who signed a lease with IEL were obligated by that lease to sign and
maintain an ICOA agreement with SWIFT simultapeously.

The equipment lease portion of the form contract binds Plaintiffs for a term of
years.

The service contract portion of the form éontract is for one year.

The service contracts provide for unilateral modifications by Defendants, upon
notice to Plaintiffs.

While the contracts state that Plaintiffs are independent contractors, these
contracts allow Defendants to exert nearly complete control over Plaintiffs’
work and ensure that Plaintiffs cannot independently work for other
companies. Despite the declaration that Plaintiffs are “independent contractors”™
SWIFT treats Plaintiffs as employees.

Defendants’ agents inform the Plaintiffs that they can only drive for SWIFT
and are not permitted to drive for other carriers.

Defendants’ agents inform the Plaintiffs that if they tumn in their trucks early,
they will be liable for all remaining lease payments that would have been due

to IEL if plaintiffs had kept the truck, as well as other expenses imposed by

Defendants.

15
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Defendants’ form contracts purport to require that if Plaintiffs turn in their
trucks early, they will be liable for all remaining lease payments that would
have been due to IEL if plaintiffs had kept the truck, as well as other expenses
imposed by Defendants.

Defendants force Plaintiffs to bear Defendants’ business expenses. Defendants
force Plaintiffs to pay for the truck, the Qualcomm device by which
Defendants send instructions to Plaintiffs, liability insurance, (indemnifying
SWIFT and IEL), taxes, tolls, gas, and maintenance and other charges.
Defendants claim the right to claim depreciation on the leased trucks.
Defendants’ scheme described herein shifts the costs of maintaining SWIET’s
fleet and general business operations to Plaintiffs, but keeps all the benefits.
This scheme also shifts the risk of trucking business downturn from
Defendants to Plaintiffs, since Defendants are not obligated to give Plaintiffs
any specific amount of work.

Defendants handle all the taxes, licensure, registration, bonding, insurance, and
accounting related to Plaintiffs’ trucks, for Defendants’ own protection, but
pass along all these costs (with markup for profit) to the Plaintiffs. |
The contracts even permit Defendants to exact profits and reimbursements
from the Plaintiffs which are not disclosed in the contract. For example, the
contracts permit defendants to charge undisclosed administrative fees and
profits.

Defendants control Plaintiffs® work to the extent that they are, by law,
employees of Defendants.

Plaintiffs fulfill the primary business in which SWIFT engages — the

16
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fransportation of goods.

Defendants dispatch Plaintiffs to jobs that it wishes them to perform.
Defendants monitor and control the time of Plaintiffs’ departure and the time of
arrival. Defendants can dictate and monitor the route Plaintiffs will travel.
Defendants give job instructions by a pre-printed manual with which Plaintiffs
are obligated to comply. Defendants give job instructions and monitor
compliance by use of the Qualéomm on-board computer system, and by '
telephone. Defendants monitor Plaintiffs’ exact location, speed, control of the
truck, route, ETA, rest time and driving time and other aspects of job
performance by the on-board computerized Qualcomm system. Defendants
can even seize the truck if Plaintiff does not deliver a load correctly or on time.
By the terms of the lease, IEL does not lease to truckers who will not drive for
SWIFT.

The IEL lease and SWIFT ICOA are pért of a package that ﬁuckers are
required to sign in fofo.

The ICOA terms permit SWIFT to cancel the Plaintiffs’ contracts and “fire

Plaintiffs” immediately with “cause” or on 10 days notice without cause.

The IEL lease permits SWIFT to treat SWIFT’s termination of Plaintiffs as a
“default” by Plaintiffs.

If a Plaintiff is put in defanlt by SWIFT, defendants take possession of the
truck and claims “liquidated damages” under a provision that guarantees all
remaining lease payments, including anticipated profits will be paid to SWIFT,
even though Defendants’ own unilateral conduct terminating the contract may

have caused the “default” and notwithstanding that any actual losses are

17
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capable of determiné.tion and mitigation through re-leasing the truck, and that
any losses are far less than what Defendants unreasonably claim from their
truckers..

Defendants verbally and in writing prevent Plaintiffs from working for other
common carriers, thereby ensuring their exclusive control over Plaintiffs work.
Defendants frequently demand that Plaintiffs accept Defendants’ unilateral
contract modifications during the term of their contracts. Plaintiffs are forced to
agree to such modifications because of Defendants’ ability to terminate
Plaintiffs without cause, and declare a default of the lease and thereby seize the
trucks Plaintiffs drive. Because Defendants can default Plaintiffs, take the
frucks, and hold Plaintiffs liable for all remaining payments, or because
Defendants can refuse to dispatch Plaintiffs to new jobs, or because Defendants
can place Plaintiffs on “safety holds” preventing them from working,
Defendants can unilaterally change the contracts to which Plaintiffs are subject,
and they often make such changes on multiple occasions in a single year. These
contracts changes are invariably in favor of Defendants at Plaintiffs’ expense.
Plaintiffs have little or no choice but to accept the changes.

Plaintiffs are not free to terminate the SWIFT ICOA or the IEL lease, since a
Plaintiff’s termination of the SWIFT ICOA is also termed a “default” in the
lease, leading to severe financial consequences to a Plaintiff.

The ability to terminate the SWIFT ICOA is not mutual, since there are severe
consequences to a Plaintiff regardless of who terminates the ICOA, including

repossession of the truck and the trucker’s hability to Defendants for liquidated

damages.

18
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Because Defendants take possession of the truck, Plaintiffs are unable to use it
to drive for other companies. Thus, Plaintiffs are forced to endure working
under Defendants’ exclusive coptrol for the duration of their lease.

Thus at any time, Defendants are permitted to call the loan in full and take the
truck, thereby refusing to permit Plaintiffs to drive for other companies. By this
mechanism Plaintiffs become indebted to IEL for many tens of thousands of
dollars, with no ability to generate income (from SWIFT or any other
company) to pay back the loan.

In effect, the lease portion of the contract provides Defendants with the means
to pressure and coerce Plaintiffs into allowing Defendants- to maintain
exclusive control over their work, because Plaintiffs fear being terminated and
then becoming subject to the ‘l‘default” provision in the lease.

If Plaintiffs are terminated or choose to terminate their contract, Plaintiffs are
deemed to have defaulted on the lease, allowing Defendants to reap windfall
profits, and take the truck.

The ICOA provides Defendants remedies to collect money owed for breach or
termination but does not provide these remedies to Plaintiffs, who might be
owed wages upon termination.

IEL refers default charges to bill collectors who hound the Plaintiffs that it puts
in default and who cannot pay the exorbitant liquidated damages demanded by
Defendants under the contracts. Defendants did this to Plaintiff SHEER.
Defendants inform plaintiffs that if they unilaterally turn in their truck, they
will be “in default” and responsible for all remaining lease payments due to

defendants under the lease and ICOA, as well as other expenses.

19



104. Defendants obtained the continued labor of plaintiffs by using threats of
serious harm - threatening to pursue lawsuits, impose significant debts of up to
a hundred thousand dollars or more on plaintiffs, and loss of employment
opportunities and credit through negative credit reporting and negative DAC
reporting.

105. Upon rinformation and belief, loss of good crédit or DAC Report status can
prevent a driver from getting a job within the trucking industry. Upon
information and belief, the U.S. commerciél industry routinely uses the DAC
Report for pre-employment screening.

106. Defendants operated a scheme, plan or pattern intended to cause plaintiffs to
believe that non-performance of labor for defendants over a period of years
would result in serious harm to plaintiffs.

107. Defendants threatened plaintiffs that they would use the legal system to enforce
the crushing debt that defendants’ lease and ICOA operation imposed on
plaintiffs.

108.  Defendants prohibit Plaintiffs from freely using the truck they lease from
Defendants by a variety of means, including but not limited to the following.
Certain contract language explicitly states that SWIFT shall have exclusive
control over the equipment. Defendants tell Plaintiffs they cannot drive for
third parties. Certain contract language requires Plaintiffs to obtain SWIFT’s
approval to remove SWIFT operating authority indicia from the truck and
requires such removal to be at personal expense, prior to driving for another
cartier. IEL will put a Plaintiff in default for driving for another company

without permission. Merely requesting permission to drive for another

20
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114.

115.

116.
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company puts a Plaintiff at risk that SWIFT and IEL will simply declare a
default of the lease without cause, thereby requiring Plaintiffs to pay the net
aggregate lease balance and surrender the truck at Plaintiffs® expense.

Thus, while the ICOA purports to permit Plaintiffs to be independent
contractors, Plaintiffs are effectively compelled to work only for SWIFT
during the terms of their contract.

Plaintiffs’ equipment lease requires them fo make weekly repayment of a
portion of the t_otaI lease term. For example, $500 per week or more is deducted
from each Plaintiff’s wages for the lease of the Defendants’ truck.

In addition to the lease payments, Plaintiffs are also responsible for taxes,
equipment, maintenance and other costs in connection with the truck.
Defendants set the terms of Plaintiffs’ work.

Defendants assign shipping work to the Plaintiffs through a Qualcomm sysfem
on which SWIFT sets the day and time for pick up and delivery of freight.
Defendants deduct monthly fees for use of the Qualcomm regardless of
whether Plaintiff purchases it from Defendants (incurring additional pay
deductions) or elsewhere.

Plaintiffs are required to pay money to Defendants for a bond, and this required
bond may be used for deductions for equipment charges, in which case
Plaintiffs must replenish the bond.

Defendants can take possession of a Plaintiff’s equipment for a variety of

reasons (or no reason at all), including if Plaintiff fails to properly or timely

deliver a shipment or Swift instigates a “safety-hold.”

SWIFT pays Plaintiff and Class members by mileage rates.
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SWIFT fails to pay the Wag;:s required by law free and clear to the Plaintiffs.
Tnstead, SWIFT calculates the pay for Plaintiffs by a weekly accounting that
makes deductions from the mileage pay due to Plaintiffs and Class members,
for various expenses, including but not limited fo truck lease, gas, insurance,
tolls, Qualcomm purchase, SWIFT and TEL’s accounting, and maintenance.
When Plaintiffs cannot carn enough to make their truck payments and/or earn a
living wage, SWIFT, at times, will provide advances on pay. By giving
advances, SWIFT keeps Plaintiffs owing money each month and that money 1s
continuously deducted from wages. This constant debt to SWIFT enhances its
control over Plaintiffs, who must try to catch up with what they owe to SWIFT,
make truck payments, and avoid default of the IEL lease. Thus advances
further enhance Defendants’ control over Plaintiffs

Plaintiff DOE began his lease with IEL in 2009 and completed the lease in
2010.

Plaintiff SHEER began his lease with Defendants in or about August 7, 2006.
Plaintiff SHEER stopped working for Defendants in or about April 7, 2009.
Defendants insist that Plaintiffs and Class members use the track sélely for
delivering freight for SWIFT.

But, Defendants do not guarantee any amount of work to Plaintiffs.

In some weeks, the deductions from Plaintiffs and Class Members’ pay yield
pay rates below federal and or state minimum wage guarantees.

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and Class members the minimum wage for
each hour worked in some weeks.

Defendants’ treatment of Plaintiffs as independent contractors caused them loss
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129.

130.

131.

132.

133.

134.

of wages, additional tax burdens, insurance obligations and a variety of other
monetary and hon-monetary compensable harm.

Defendants also charged Plaintiffs for issuing their pay checks By making
deductions from their pay to cover Defendants’ accounting and administrative
costs as well as to exact additional profit.

Defendants' f_ailure to pay Plaintiff;s and the Class the proper wages required by
law was willful.

Defendants' unlawful conduct, as set forth in this Class Action Complaint, has
been intentional, willful, and in bad faith, and'has caused significant damages
to Plaintiffs and the Class.

Defendanfé were aware or should have been aware that the law required them
to pay Plaintiffs and the Class members’ minimum wages for each workweek.
Upon information and belief, Defendants apply the same unlawful policies and
practices to the driver plaintiffs in every state in which they operate.

The lease and ICOA contracts are unlawful and unconscionable, insofar as they
(a) call for the employment of Plaintiffs but treat them as independent
contractors; (b) allow SWIFT and IEL to terminate the Plaintiffs’ lease and
ICOA but nevertheless require Plaintiffs to continue to make lease payments:
(c) coerce Plaintiffs to remain as employees for a period of time while hiding
that coercion, because a Plaintiff who leaves the employment is obligated to
continue to make lease payments even though they no longer have possession
of the truck; (d) shift Defendants’ risk of business downtum to Plaintiffs; {(c)
make Plaintiffs responsible for the costs of carrying and maintaining

Defendants® fleet , and (f) exact profits and reimbursements from Plaintiff
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136.

137.

- 138.

139.

140.

141.

142.

143.

144.

cruployees.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(FATR LABOR STANDARDS ACT)
Defendants failed to pay minimam wages to Plaintiffs in v1olat10n of the Falr
Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §206 et Seq. and its implementing regulations.
Defendants' failure to pay proper minimum wages for each hour worked per
week was willful within the meaning of the FLSA.
Defendants' failure to comply with the FLSA minimum wage protections

caused Plaintiffs to suffer loss of wages and interest thereon.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(RESTITUTION/UNJUST ENRICHMENT)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding
paragraphs.

The Corporate Defendants’ lease and ICOA are unconscionable.

The Corporate Defendants’ unconscionable agreements are void, or
alternatively, voidable by Plaintiffs under the common law.

The Corporate Defendants have been unjustly enriched by ?he unconscionable
terms of the contracts they imposed on the Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs are entitled to restitution or damages in quantum meruit for the value
the Corporate Defendants’ unconscionable contracts conferred upon
Defendants.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(DECLARATORY JUDGMENT)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding
paragraphs.

The Corporate Defendants’ lease and ICOA are unconscionable.
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146.

147.

148.

149.

150.

151.

152.

Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory judgment that the Corporate Defendants’

lease and ICOA are unconscionable.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(NEW YORK LABOR LAW)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding
paragraphs.

Defendants failed to pay minimum wages in cach week of work, to Plaintiff
JOHN DOE 1 and the New York Class in violation of New York Labor Law,
Article 19 and the administrative reguléttions implementing such provisions, as
set forth in 12 NYCRR 142-1.1, et seq. -

Defendants failed to pay all wages when due to Plaintiff JOHN DOE 1 and the
New York Class in violation of New York Labor Law, Article 6, and NY
Labor Law §191, ef seq.

Defendants made unlawful deductions from the pay due to Plaintiff JOHN
DOE 1 and Class members, and required that Plaintiffs pay for Defendants’®
business expenses in violation of NY Labor Law § 193 and § 198-b.
Defendants’ failure to comply with New York Labor Law caused Plaintiffs to
suffer loss of wages and interest thereon.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(NEW YORK STATUTORY CONTRACT LAW)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding
paragraphs.
The Corporate Defendants lease and independent contractor operating

agreement are unconscionable under Sections 2A-108 and 2-302 of the New
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155,

Yéfk Uniform Commercial Code and under the common law of New York, as
described more fully above, because they are contracts of adhesion, which
Plaintiffs are not permitted to review with an attorney or other advisors prior to
Signiﬁg, the terms of which are entirely one-sided and terminable by
Defendants but binding on Plaintiffs for a period of years, which permit
Defendants to preclude Plaintiffs from gainful employment with other carriers
and whiéhrpermit Defendants to take the truck purportedly leased, but reql;ire
Plaintiffs to continue to make payments, but without the ability to work,
thereby placing Plaintiffs in such fear of loss that they cannot request to work
for another carrier and must accept Defendants’ unlawful wage deductions, and
accept Defendants’ unilateral alterations to the contract, and must continue o
work under a contract that falsely and misleadingly mischaracterizes Plaintif{s
as independent contractors, and which unlawfully shifts the Defendants’
business expenses to the Plaintiffs.

The Corporate Defendants’ lease estabﬁshes unreasonable liquidated damages
in violation of UCC Section 2-A-504.

The Corporate Defendants' failure to comply with New York Law of Contract
caused Plaintiffs to suffer loss of income, wages and interest thereon, and
caused Plaintiffs to bear Defendants’ business expenses, and caused Plaintiffs
to incur various other costs and expenses not properly charged to an employee,
including but not limited to taxes, unemployment, workers’ compensation,
various insurance, and social security.

The unconscionable lease and contract terms cause plaintiffs to continue

employment for defendants at unlawful rates and with unlawful terms of
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157.
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employment.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding
paragraphs.

Defendants failed to pay minimum wages and all wages due to Plaintiff
SHEER and the Class in violation of California Labor Law, implementing
regulations and associated Wage Orders.

Beginning at a date presently unknown to the California Plaintiffs, but at least
as long ag5 as 2006, Defendants committed, and continues to commit, acts of
unfair competition as defined by the California Unfair Competition Law
(“UCL”), by, among other things, engaging in the acts and practices described
herein. Defendants’ conduct as alleged has injured the California Plaintiffs and
the California Class by wrongfully denying them earned wages, and therefore
was substantially injurious to the California Plaintiffs.

Defendants engaged in unfair competition in viélation of the UCL by violating,
inter alia, each of the following laws. Bach of these violations constituies an
independent and separate violation of the UCL: Cal. Lab. Code §§221, 450,
1182.12, 1194, & 2802 & IWC Wage Order 9, as well as California Business
& Professions Code §§17200, et seq, including 17203 & 17208. Defendants’
conduct described herein significantly threatens or harms competition.

The unlawful and unfair business practices and acts of Defendants, described
above, have injured the California Plaintiffs in that they were wrongfully

denied the payment of minimum wages.
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162.

163.

164.

165.

166.

167.

Defendants failed to pay California Plaintiffs minimum wages in each week in
violation of California Labor Law §§1194 and 1182.12 and IWC Wage Order
9, Sec. 4. |

Defendants made unlawful deductions from the pay due to Plaintiffs and Class
Members and failed to pay for employer expenses borne by Plainiiffs in
violation of California Labor Law §§221 and 2802 and IWC Wage Order 9,
Sec. 9.

Defendants coerced or éompelled Plaintiffs to patronize Defendants or others
in the purchase of things of value in violation of California Labor Law §450.
Defendants' failure to comply with California law caused Plaintiffs to suffer
loss of wages and other sums, to bear expenses, and to suffer loss of interest
thereon.

The unconscionable lease and contract terms cause plaintiffs to continue
employment for defendants at unlawful rates and with unlawful terms of
employment.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(CALIFORNIA STATUTORY CONTRACT LAW)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding
paragraphs.

The Corporate Defendants’ lease and independent contractor operating
agreément are unconscionable under California Civil Code Division 3 Part 2,
Title 4, §1670.5. and under the common law of California, as described mote
fully above, because they are coniracts of adhesion, which Plaintiffs are not

permitted to review with an attorney or other advisors prior to signing, the
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169.

170.

terms of which are entirely one-sided and terminable by Defendants but
binding on Plaintiffs for a period of years, Which permit Defendants to
preclude Plaintiffs from gainful employment with other carriers, and which
permit Defendants-to take the truck purportedly leased, but require Plaintiffs to
continue to make payments thereon, but without the ability to work, thereby
placing Plaintiffs in such fear of loss that they cannot request to work for
another carrier and must accept Defendants’ unlawful wage deductions, and
accept Defendants® unilateral alterations to the contract, and must continue to
work under a contract that falsely and misleadingly mischaracterizes Plaintiffs
as independent contractors, and which unlawfuﬂy shifts the Defendants’
business expenses to the Plaintiffs. |

The Corporate Defendants’ lease establishes unreasonable liquidated damages
under circumstances existing at the time the lease contract was signed in
violation of Cal. Civil Code 1671.

The Corporate Defendants' failure to comply with California statutes described
in this cause of action caused Plaintiffs to suffer loss of money,—time, income,
wages and interest thereon, and caused Plaintiffs to bear Defendants’® business
expenses, and caused Plaintiffs to incur various other costs and expenses not
properly charged to an employee, including but not limited to taxes,
unemployment, workers’ compensation, various insurance, and social security.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(FORCED LABOR)

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs.
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172.

173.

174.

Defendants obtained the continuous labor of plaintiffs by using threats of

serious harm.

Defendants operated a scheme, plan or pattern infended to cause plaintiffs to

believe that non-performance of labor would result in serious harm.

Defendants threatened plaintiffs that they would use the legal system to enforce

the crushing debt that defendants’ lease and ICOA operation imposed on

plaintiffs.

Defendants’ scheme, plan or pattern caused plaintiffs to engage in forced labor

and 1595.

for defendants in violation of the federal forced labor statutes, 18 U.S.C. §1589

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Court enter an Order:

1. With respect to the FLSA violations

a.

b.

Declaring that Defendants violated the FLSA,;

Approving this action as a collective action;

Declaring that Défendants' violations of the FLSA were willful;
Granting judgment to Plaintiffs and represented parties for their
claims of unpaid wages as secured by the Fair Labor Standards
Act, as well as an equal amount in liquidated damages and
interest; and

Awarding Plaintiffs and represented parties their costs and

reasonable attorneys' fees.

2. With respect to the Classes:

a. Certifying this action as a class action;
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Designating Plaintiffs as Class Representatives;

Designating the undersigned counsel as Class Counsel;

Entering a declaratory judgment that the practices complained of
herein é:re unlawful;

Fashioning appropriate equitable and injunctive relief to remedy 7
Defendants' violations of law, including but not necessarily lHmited
to an order determining that the contract is void, or voidable, or
alternatively severing an3\f unconscionable clauses and enjoining
Defendants from continuing their unlawful practices as described
herein;

Awarding statutory, compensatory and punitive damages, liquidated
damages, appropriate statutory penalties, and restitution to be paid
by Defendants according to proof;

Awarding Pre-judgment and Post-Judgment interest, as provided by
law;

Granting such other injunctive and equitable relief as the Court may
deem just and pfoper; and

Awarding attorneys' fees and costs of suif, including expert fees,

interest, and costs.
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Dated: March 24, 2010

32

Respectfully Submitted,

oo (P

Dan Getman (DG4613)

Carol Richman (CR1256)

Tara Bemnstein

Edward Tuddenham, Of Counsel
Getman & Sweeney, PLLC

0 Paradies Lane

New Paltz, NY 12561

phone: (845)255-9370

fax: (845) 255-8649

Email; dectman{@getmansweeney.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing has, this March 24, 2010, been
mailed by first class mail to all counsel of record in these proceedings.

5/ Anibal Garcia

Anibal Garcia
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IN TEF, UNITED STATES DISTRIUT LOURTY
FOR TEIE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YIRK

TOTTR DOE 1 206 JOREPHE SHRER, indlvidesily and
hehalf of 8] other simifarly situsted parsons,

Plaintifi,

‘gl-

SWIFT TRANSPORTATTON €O, INC. and
INTERSYATE EQUIPMIENT LEASING, TNC,

Defendanti

CONSENTE EQ SUE

[ leased & truck from IEL snd wag jeeated by SWIFT a9 an owner-operator within the last years. 1
hersby comgant W sue defendants in fhis Fair Labot Smndards Act pase. I consent @y reprseniation bythe
named plaintE sed B bringing of any ol T ey have undey the Pair Labar Standards Act (foy prpaad -
overtims, lipuidated damages, sthoamey’s £ae5, GO6HE and other relief) against e defenstaufs inthis action.

1 prbfhorize Cetmen & Sweasney, FLLE and its quccess0n and anigns, T reptesent me b this cese.
By signing and retwping this consent o 5ue, 1 undarstand $hst, it zecented fo representation, [ will be
repressnted by fhe Jaw fw without prepayiment of costs or attomeys’ fees, Ttderstand that If plainsiils
are successhid, costs expended by stiorneys on 11 hohalt witl be deducted pr rate fom iy settlemeat or
ndghent firet. J omderstend that thie Jaw e g2y petition fhe conrt for an wwand of fees arad eosis o be
paid by dofendsnts an my behakf T wndersued fhat the fees retaiped by the adorueys will be sither the
smoim of feot recsived fom the defendants or 1/3 ofwy suiement o7 jndement arennt, whichever Is

groater. { undessteme that i the cass is not sncossshid, § will not be obligated 1o pay mey T of conis.

)

Neaype exactly as it appesrs o cpmpany py statetpents G diferent)

Address:_
, REDACTED

Phone;_ - REDACTED

Froail ;
REDACTED
Sand this wompisess form for ctisidgfationtobe represented by Getmen & Sweeney, PLLC, i fhe
following addsess: Getmaan Sweeney, § Paradies Lans, Newr Paltz, NY 12361
or oz it tolf freg tot B66-543-2631 5.

’}T‘fsis Congent to Sue i not veiid and effective matl you have reeived & recelpt foxn Getman & Sweansy
ndicating that it hes boon Sied. I wou bave a0t received 2 receipt wathin 3 weeks Roi your trxusmission
of thé form 15 s, you st corast the Hrm by phope &t BA5-2I5-03HL




CONSENT TO SUE UNDERTHE FESA

REDACTED Johr Doe
L. T, ety consentto be o plafnfHT In an action mder The Falr Tabor
Standards Act, 39 TT.5C. £201 of sey., o seonve any wopaid wages, winEmITn weagss, overtime
pay, Tanidated damages, zifomeys” fees, costsand ofher refief arising out of ney eraployment
with Swiit Trrsporiation, Inc , Sorift Franspostation Co. o, Yoderstate Panipment Loasing,
Tor., and any other sssociated partios.

T sosthostion Cietmen & Sweesey, PLLE, Dan Gefmon, Bsq, and azy associated atiomeys
%mﬁwmmmmmm%mmmmmm

REDACTED  3ghm Doo

pate: \\/ 36/200¢
REDACTED



CONSENT TO SUH WNDER THE FLSA

L Foseph Mark Sheer, hereby consent tal ]h a plainiiff in an ation urdexr the Faly Eabor
Standands Act, 20 1.5.C. 5231 et sexy, to secursjayly upaid wages, MImmMUm Wages, geertime
pay, liquidated damages, attomeys” feas, cosls #1 Wther Telief arising out of my expioymert
with Swift Trapsportmtion, oo, Swiflt Transportaiirn Co. Inc., Interstate Byaiproent Leasms,
Fac., and any other assockated parties. _

I authorize Getman & Sweeney, PLLC, Paf Ciehman, Bsq., and any associzted attorneys
a5 weil a5 any SUCCESSOrS O 2ssIgns, o represert me mgmch actiop. '

{

Dated: 77, /4?}/&9




